RECEIVED

Oct 01 2025

S.C. SUPREME COURT

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE SUPREME COURT

APPEAL FROM HORRY COUNTY  
COURT OF COMMON PLEAS  
William H. Seals, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Circuit Court Case No. 2017-CP-26-02564  
Appellate Case No.: 2020-001265

RECEIVED

Sep 29 2025

SC Court of Appeals

Marcus Dwain Wright, 289646, ..... Petitioner,  
v.  
State of South Carolina, ..... Respondent.

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

J. Falkner Wilkes (SC Bar #12893)  
248 Deerwood Park Dr.  
Oakland, MS 38948  
(864) 421-4618  
jfalcknerwilkes@gmail.com

Counsel for Petitioner

September 29, 2025.

## PETITION

### *Questions Presented*

1. Are the decisions of the lower courts contrary to the Fifth Amendment, Sixth Amendment, Fourteenth Amendment, Weaver v. Massachusetts, Strickland v. Washington, and this Court's ruling in State v. Rivera?
2. Did Counsel's failure to make a timely motion to reopen the defense constitute a violation of the Petitioner's right to testify under the Fifth Amendment and the Petitioner's right to effective assistance of counsel under the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments?
3. Is this Court's decision that a complete denial of a defendant's right to testify always results in a trial that is fundamentally unfair applicable to a Weaver v. Massachusetts analysis?
4. Was the application of Strickland's standard harmless error analysis contrary to the decision in Weaver v. Massachusetts?

### *Procedural History*

The Petitioner, Marcus Dwain Wright, was convicted of murder, trafficking powder cocaine, possession with intent to distribute cocaine base, and possession of a weapon during a violent crime after a jury trial. The Petitioner was represented by L. Morgan Martin and Edward M. Brown. Wright was sentenced to life on the murder, five years on the weapons charge, twenty-five years on the trafficking charge, and fifteen years for the possession with intent to distribute cocaine base. All sentences were run concurrent to each other and consecutive to the life sentence. The Petitioner filed a direct appeal. The court of appeals affirmed in State v. Wright, 416 S.C. 353, 374, fn. 2 785 S.E.2d 479, 490, fn. 2 (Ct. App. 2016). The Petitioner then filed a post conviction relief action. A hearing was held, after which an order was entered denying Petitioner relief. Petitioner filed a motion to alter or amend judgment. The circuit court entered an order on the Petitioner's motion denying relief in part and granting relief in part. Based on that ruling the court then issued the AMENDED ORDER OF DISMISSAL. Petitioner

filed a petition for writ of certiorari in this Court. The case was transferred to the court of appeals. The court of appeals granted the petition and issued an Opinion affirming the circuit court. (Opinion No. 6119). This Petition follows.

### ***Standard of Review***

“Our standard of review in PCR cases depends on the specific issue before us. We defer to a PCR court's findings of fact and will uphold them if there is evidence in the record to support them. Sellner v. State, 416 S.C. 606, 610, 787 S.E.2d 525, 527 (2016) (*citing* Jordan v. State, 406 S.C. 443, 448, 752 S.E.2d 538, 540 (2013)). We review questions of law *de novo*, with no deference to trial courts. Sellner, 416 S.C. at 610, 787 S.E.2d [\*\*840] at 527 (*citing* Jamison v. State, 410 S.C. 456, 465, 765 S.E.2d 123, 127 (2014)).” Smalls v. State, 422 S.C. 174, 180-81, 810 S.E.2d 836, 839-40 (2018).

### ***Statement of the Facts***

After the State rested its case in the Petitioner’s trial defense counsel made motions for directed verdicts on all charges. (A. p. 1044). The motions were denied and the court’s ruling was followed by a discussion of the Petitioner’s potential impeachment offenses. (A. p. 1046). The court then advised the Petitioner as to his basic rights, including his right to testify or remain silent. Immediately after advising the Petitioner of his rights the court inquired as to whether or not at that point the defendant thought he would testify: “And I ask you now -- *you’re not bound at this point*, but have you determined whether you wish to testify or exercise your right to remain silent?” The Petitioner responded “Exercise my right to remain silent.” (A. p. 1048, l. 10-12). The case proceeded with the defense calling Christopher McCray as a witness. McCray was presented *in camera* to first determine the admissibility of his testimony. (A. p. 1051). The court ruled McCray’s testimony inadmissible and immediately after its ruling the court inquired

whether the defense had any additional witnesses. Without conferring with the Petitioner defense counsel immediately responded: “We have no further witnesses.” (A. p. 1067, l. 13-15). Then, still without a break, the jury was brought back in and the defense rested on the record. (A. pp. 1067-1068). The jury was then released for the day. (A. p. 1069). After the jury had been released the prosecutor initiated a discussion about potential jury charges. (A. p. 1069). No rulings were made and court concluded for the day with the trial judge indicating that the discussions would continue the following morning. (A. p. 1078).

Prior to the trial resuming the following morning the Petitioner informed defense counsel Brown that he wanted to testify. Brown immediately informed his co-counsel Martin. (A. pp. 227-228; 1083-1084). When court resumed that morning neither Brown nor Martin informed the court that the Petitioner had changed his mind and wanted to testify. (A. pp. 1078-1079). Instead, when the trial resumed and the case turned over to the defense, trial counsel engaged in lengthy discussions about requests to charge. (A. pp. 1078-1082). After those discussions the court entered a ruling denying the defense’s requests to charge self-defense and manslaughter. (A. pp. 1082-1083). Still, neither Brown nor Martin alerted the court that the Petitioner had informed them that he wanted to testify. When asked if the defense was ready to proceed with closing arguments Martin replied “Yes”. (A. p. 1083, l. 14). At that point the Petitioner interrupted and asked permission to speak. (A. p. 1083, ll. 17-18). Martin, knowing what Wright wanted to say, finally informed the court that Wright wanted to testify:

Mr. Martin: “Judge, let me say for the record our client has come out this morning and tells me that he’s changed his mind and he wants to testify. I have informed him that *in my opinion that matter has passed us by* as based on his assertion to the Court that he wished to remain silent. We have rested, but out of an abundance of precaution for the record, I don’t want to cut him off, and I’ll tell the Court that is what he wants to address with the Court.” (A. pp.

1083, l. 12 - 1084, l. 4).

The trial court immediately responded: “No. The record is closed.” (A. p. 1084, ll. 7-8).

A review of the record of the court’s comments immediately following its ruling shows that the court initially based its ruling on the mistaken belief that the Petitioner had only decided to testify after hearing the court’s ruling on the requests to charge: “Now that he has seen how the Court has ruled, he wants to adjust his strategy, I guess. I don’t know what he wants to do, quite frankly, but it would appear that the desire now to testify is the result of rulings by the Court.” (A. p. 1084, ll. 8-12). Martin reminded the court that when it asked Petitioner whether he would testify that it specifically told him that he was not bound by that decision. (A. p. 1084, ll. 16-18). The discussion then focused on the timing of the Petitioner’s decision to testify:

The Court: Did he indicate to you, Mr. Brown, prior to coming in here that he wished to testify?

Mr. Brown: He indicated -- I went back to see him, and Mr. Wright did indicate that he wanted to testify, and ---.

The Court: All right. *And why wasn’t that called to the Court’s attention before the Court ruled?*

Mr. Brown: Well, Your Honor, no, that was this morning, not ---.

The Court: I know, but I just ruled on the two voluntary manslaughter and self-defense, just a few minutes ago, and he did not, when he came in here, neither he , nor you, nor Mr. Martin made any -- any -- any overture to the Court that he wanted to change his mind and testify. *That would have been the time, before the Court ruled.*

(A. p. 1086, l. 17 - p. 1087, l. 8).

Even after being informed that the Petitioner’s decision to testify had been made prior to the trial resuming, the trial court restated its belief that the Petitioner had waited until the court had made a ruling on the charges before he decided to testify. (A. p. 1087). This time Martin

spoke up and was unequivocal: “Well, Judge, let me say this. That is not how it happened.” (A. p. 1087, ll. 16-17). Martin went on to explain exactly what happened and how he had informed the Petitioner early that morning before the trial resumed that it was too late for him to testify.

Mr. Martin: For the clarity of the record, when he came out -- Mr. Brown came out, said he wants to testify. *The when he came out, we sat here and talked and I told him that time had passed him by*, that we had rested based on his assertion that he didn't want to testify, and I -- I didn't bring it up before we got into the motion, so for whatever difference that makes, he did not wait until you ruled to so say anything about that. He said that prior to that.

(A. p. 1087, ll. 17-24). Despite it being clear that the Petitioner had not waited until after the Court's ruling before deciding to testify, the trial court again denied the Petitioner the right to testify, now citing *counsel's failure* to inform the court prior to the court's ruling on the requested jury charges: “Well, it wasn't called to the Court's attention until that point [after the court's ruling on charges]. So I'm not going to allow him to testify. The record is closed.” (A. p. 1087, l. 25 - p. 1088, l. 4).

**I. VIOLATION OF PETITIONER'S RIGHT TO TESTIFY IN HIS OWN BEHALF AND HIS RIGHT TO EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL.**

***Constitutional Error:***

Counsel's error in failing to immediately notify the court and make a motion to reopen the defense case to allow the Petitioner to testify resulted in a complete denial of the Petitioner's Fifth Amendment right to testify.

“[T]he right of an accused to testify in his defense is fundamental to the trial process and transcends a mere evidentiary ruling. An accused's right to testify "is either respected or denied; its deprivation cannot be harmless." McKaskle, 465 U.S. at 177 n.8. As such, the error is structural in that it is "so basic to a fair trial that [its] infraction can never be treated as harmless error." Fulminante, 499 U.S. at 289 (quoting Chapman, 386 U.S. at 23).”

State v. Rivera, 402 S.C. 225, 249-50, 741 S.E.2d 694, 707 (2013).

In recognizing a constitutional right to testify in one's own defense, the Supreme Court explained the numerous constitutional foundations for this right. Rock v. Arkansas, 483 U.S. 44, 51-53, 107 S.Ct. 2704, 97 L.Ed.2d 37 (1987). First, the right to testify is derived from the Due Process Clause, applicable to the states through the Fourteenth Amendment, which guarantees that one shall not be deprived of liberty without due process of law. Due process includes, at a minimum, the right to be heard in one's defense. *Id.* at 51, 107 S.Ct. 2704. Second, the Compulsory Process Clause of the Sixth Amendment gives defendants the right to call witnesses in their favor; logically included in this right is the right to testify as a witness in one's own behalf. *Id.* at 52, 107 S.Ct. 2704. This right is personal to the defendant, not to counsel. Finally, the right to testify is the natural corollary to the Fifth Amendment's protection against compelled testimony; the right to remain silent is not a choice unless a defendant also has the right to speak in his own defense if he chooses to do so. *Id.* at 53, 107 S.Ct. 2704.

The defendant has the ultimate authority to make certain fundamental decisions regarding his case, including whether to plead guilty, waive a jury trial, testify in his own behalf, or appeal his conviction or sentence. Jones v. Barnes, 463 U.S. 745, 751, 103 S.Ct. 3308, 77 L.Ed.2d 987 (1983); McCoy v. Louisiana, 584 U.S. 414, 138 S. Ct. 1500, 1508, 200 L.Ed.2d 821 (2018). As the McCoy Court stated, "These are not strategic choices about how best to achieve a client's objectives; they are choices about what the client's objectives in fact are." 138 S. Ct. at 1508. Indeed, the ethical duties of an attorney require a lawyer to "abide by a client's decisions concerning the objectives of representation .... In a criminal case, the lawyer shall abide by the client's decision, after consultation with the lawyer, as to a plea to be entered, whether to waive jury trial, and whether the client will testify." *Va. Rules of Prof. Conduct Rule 1.2(a)*. *American Bar Association Standards for Criminal Justice* also recognize that the decision whether to testify is "to be made by a competent client after full consultation with defense counsel." *Criminal Justice Standards, Standard 4-5.2(b)(vi)* (4th ed. 2017).

Carter v. Clark, 667 F.Supp.3d 163 (March 31, 2023) at 197

The record shows that a timely motion to reopen the defense to allow the Petitioner to testify would have been granted. The court's comments make that clear. The ultimate basis stated for denying the Petitioner's request to testify was that the court had already ruled on the jury charge requests. The court's last comments on the matter specifically cited counsel's failure to alert the court as soon as the case resumed that

morning stating “that would have been the time, before the Court ruled.” Counsel explained to the trial court, not once but twice, that at the time the Petitioner informed them that he had changed his mind and wanted to testify Counsel believed that it was too late for him to do anything. Counsel therefore took no action to inform the court or make a motion to reopen. Counsel’s inaction was clearly driven by a fundamental misunderstanding of the applicable law and procedure. Had Counsel understood the applicable law and procedure they would have known that a motion to reopen would have been timely and overwhelmingly supported by law if made immediately upon the trial resumed that morning.

Counsel failed to appreciate the fundamental nature of the right at issue. “A criminal defendant has a right to testify on his or her own behalf.” Rock v. Arkansas, 483 U.S. 44, 50, 107 S. Ct. 2704, 97 L. Ed. 2d 37 (1987). This right is rooted in the Fourteenth Amendment due process right, the Sixth Amendment Compulsory Process Clause, and the Fifth Amendment's guarantee against compelled testimony. *Id.* at 51-53. This Court has recognized the importance of a defendant’s testimony in his or her own case: "Where the very point of a trial is to determine whether an individual was involved in criminal activity, the testimony of the individual himself must be considered of prime importance." State v. Rivera, 402 S.C. 225, 244, 741 S.E.2d 694, 704 (2013) *quoting United States v. Walker*, 772 F.2d 1172, 1179 (5th Cir. 1985).

"The right . . . to testify or not to testify is fundamental." Rivera, 402 S.C. at 241, 741 S.E.2d at 702. "Representation of a criminal defendant entails certain basic duties. Counsel's function is to assist the defendant . . . ." Strickland, 466 U.S. at 688. "From counsel's function as assistant to the defendant derive[s] the overarching duty to advocate

the defendant's cause and the more particular duties to consult with the defendant on important decisions and to keep the defendant informed of important developments in the course of the prosecution." *Id.* "Counsel also has a duty to bring to bear such skill and knowledge as will render the trial a reliable adversarial testing process." *Id.* "[T]he performance inquiry must be whether counsel's assistance was reasonable considering all the circumstances." *Id.* "The purpose [of the effective assistance guarantee] is simply to ensure that criminal defendants receive a fair trial." *Id.* at 689. "When evaluating the reasonableness of counsel's conduct, 'the court should keep in mind that counsel's function, as elaborated in prevailing professional norms, is to make the adversarial testing process work in the particular case.'" Ard v. Catoe, 372 S.C. 318, 331, 642 S.E.2d 590, 597 (2007) (*quoting Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 690).

In the Petitioner's case Counsel failed to make a timely motion to reopen the defense case to allow the Petitioner to testify. Counsel's actions must be judged in light of the fundamental nature of the Petitioner's right to testify. While a trial court has wide discretion in ruling on a motion to reopen, a finding of error does not necessarily turn on whether the court could deny the motion. Error rests in counsel's failure to bring to bear such skill and knowledge and advocate for his client so as to render the trial a reliable adversarial testing process. In Stone v. State, 419 S.C. 370 (S.C. 2017), this Court found counsel deficient for failing to act to protect his client's rights even though, given the wide discretion of the trial court, the court *may not* have granted the relief sought. "Without an objection, however, there can be no debate[,] and the trial court has no opportunity to exercise its discretion." *Id.* at 386, 798 S.E.2d at 570. In Stone this Court explained, "If [trial counsel] had objected in those instances, the trial court *may* have

sustained the objection. But in any event, counsel would have at least tested the trial court's discretion." *Id.* (*Emphasis added*). In Stone this Court noted: "The fact the trial court has such wide discretion does not justify the decision not to object. Rather, the debate that precedes the exercise of that discretion is part of the adversarial process Ard and Strickland require trial counsel to test." Stone v. State, 419 S.C. 370 (S.C. 2017). In the Petitioner's case counsel clearly failed to advocate effectively as required under both Ard and Strickland.

The record shows clearly that when the Petitioner informed Counsel that he wanted to testify Counsel were of the opinion that there was nothing they could do at that point to protect the Petitioner's right to testify. "An attorney's ignorance of a point of law that is fundamental to his case combined with his failure to perform basic research on that point is a quintessential example of unreasonable performance under Strickland." Hinton v. Alabama, 571 U.S. 263, 134 S. Ct. 1081, 1089, 188 L. Ed. 2d 1 (2014). Given the fundamental right to testify any reasonable attorney would have recognized the available remedy and immediately made a motion to reopen the defense case regardless of any prediction as to what the outcome might be. If counsel's failure to advocate for his client was based on a belief that the court would deny the motion, that only further shows that counsel was unaware of the law relevant to situation. At the time Petitioner informed counsel of his desire to exercise his right to testify the potential for success of a motion to reopen was substantial and well supported by case law. "A motion to reopen the evidentiary record and to allow additional evidence is addressed to the sound discretion of the trial judge. His ruling will not be reversed absent an abuse of discretion. A trial is a search for the truth; concomitantly, liberality is the linchpin of the rule." State v. Wren,

470 S.E.2d 111, 113, 322 S.C. 103 (S.C. App. 1996). “The trial court has the discretion ‘to grant or refuse an application for the reopening of a case and the introduction of additional evidence by a litigant who has rested, even after the commencement of arguments to the jury and later. *See* the South Carolina cases in point in 32 S.E.Dig., Trial, k65-72.” Daniel v. Tower Trucking Co., 205 S.C. 333, 32 S.E.2d 5 (S.C. 1944), 351.

While there is wide discretion in deciding to grant a motion, there is far less so in denying one when a defendant’s right to testify is at issue. In United States v. Walker the court reversed the defendant’s conviction finding that the trial court abused its discretion in denying a motion to reopen to allow the defendant to testify. In Walker, while the defendant indicated that he wanted to testify, he felt emotionally unprepared to do so at that time. As a result, Walker did not testify that day and the defense rested. Overnight Walker changed his mind. At the commencement of the trial the next day the defense made a motion to reopen the evidence to allow Walker to take the stand. The trial court denied the motion. On review the court in Walker set forth a framework relevant to the consideration of such a motion: “In passing on the motion a court should consider a number of pertinent factors: the timeliness of the motion; the character of the additional testimony; and the effect of granting the motion.” U.S. v. Walker, 772 F.2d 1172 (5th Cir. 1985), 1177; *see also* United States v. Larson, 596 F.2d 759, 778 (8th Cir.1979).

#### *The Timeliness of the Motion*

In conducting its analysis the court in Walker said that although the delay in making the motion to reopen weighed against Walker’s position on appeal, it considered the delay to be minor under all the circumstances. The Walker court said: “the timing of

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