STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE SUPREME COURT

---

APPEAL FROM HORRY COUNTY  
COURT OF COMMON PLEAS  
John C. Hayes, III, General Sessions Judge  
William H. Seals, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2020-001265

---

MARCUS DWAIN WRIGHT, #289646

Petitioner

vs.

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

Respondent

---

RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

---

WILLIAM H. RAY  
S.C. Bar No. 104476  
P.O. Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211

Attorney for Respondent

**RECEIVED**

**May 26 2021**

**S.C. SUPREME COURT**

**

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

of counsel claim could potentially function as a way to escape rules of waiver and forfeiture and raise issues not presented at trial). Even under *de novo* review, the standard for judging counsel's representation is a most deferential one.

The performance and prejudice standards, however, “do not establish mechanical rules; [t]he ultimate focus of inquiry must be on the fundamental fairness of the proceeding whose result is being challenged.” *Id.* at 696. Moreover, “there is no reason for a court deciding an ineffective assistance claim to approach the inquiry in the same order or even to address both components of the inquiry if the defendant makes an insufficient showing on one.” *Id.* at 697. The court “need not determine whether counsel's performance was deficient before examining the prejudice suffered by the defendant as a result of the alleged deficiencies. *Id.* If it is easier to dispose of an ineffectiveness claim on the ground of lack of sufficient prejudice, the court may evaluate the prejudice prong only. *Id.*

Petitioner asserts that the PCR court's dismissal of his application is contrary to this Court's decision in *State v. Rivera*, 402 S.C. 225, 741 S.E.2d 694 (2013). That case found that a criminal defendant's Fifth Amendment right to testify in his defense at trial was violated when he expressed a desire to testify, but counsel nevertheless refused to call him to the stand, and the Court misapplied the rules of evidence to prevent his testimony. *Id.* This error was not subject to the harmless error doctrine and required reversal on direct appeal, without an inquiry into the prejudicial effect it may have had on the defendant. *Id.* 402 S.C. at 247, 741 S.E.2d at 706.

Petitioner argues that his trial counsel was ineffective for failing to make a timely motion to reopen the defense to allow Petitioner to testify. This failure was driven by a misunderstanding of the applicable law, because such a motion would have been “overwhelmingly supported by law”

if it had been made in a timely fashion. Denial of such a motion, he argues, would serve no legitimate state interests whereas allowing it would have not prejudiced the State.

**A. Petitioner’s trial counsel was not ineffective because his decision to not move to reopen the defense was not made in ignorance of the law because, as the PCR court properly found, such a motion would not have been granted.**

“The right to testify on one’s own behalf at a criminal trial is guaranteed by the Fifth, Sixth, and Fourteenth Amendments.” *State v. Wright*, 416 S.C. 353, 372, 785 S.E.2d 479, 489 (Ct. App. 2016) (citing *Rock v. Arkansas*, 483 U.S. 44, 51-52 (1987)). However, the right to present testimony is not without limitation. *Rivera*, 402 S.C. at 242, 741 S.E.2d at 703; *Rock*, 483 U.S. at 55. This right may be waived, and all that is necessary for a defendant to waive the right is to know that a right to testify exists. *United States v. McMeans*, 927 F.2d 162, 163 (4<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1991). The right to testify may, in appropriate cases, be restricted to accommodate other legitimate interests in the criminal trial process, so long as the restrictions imposed are not arbitrary and are proportionate to the purposes they are designed to serve. *Rock*, 483 U.S. at 56.

“A motion to reopen the evidentiary record and to allow additional evidence is addressed to the sound discretion of the trial court, and the trial court’s ruling will not be reversed absent an abuse of discretion.” *Wright*, 416 S.C. at 371, 785 S.E.2d at 489 (quoting *State v. Wren*, 470 S.E.2d 111, 112 (Ct. App. 1996)). Reopening the record after the defense closes may be proper when “no significant information was brought forth that [the defendant] had not already learned during the government’s case-in-chief.” *United States v. Walker*, 772 F.2d 1172, 1181 (5<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1985). In exercising its discretion, the court must consider the timeliness and character of the motion, as well as the effect of granting the motion. *Id.* Therefore, a PCR Petitioner alleging that counsel was ineffective for failing to move the court to invoke its discretion can show deficiency and prejudice by showing that counsel failed to move the court, and that a denial of the motion would amount to

an abuse of discretion. *See Morris v. State*, 371 S.C. 278, 639 S.E.2d 53 (2006) (finding that failure to move for a continuance amounted to ineffective assistance where trial counsel did not request a continuance in the “rare case” where the court’s refusal of the request would have been an abuse of discretion).

Here, Petitioner claims trial counsel was ineffective because a motion to reopen the record would have been granted if it had been made immediately after learning Petitioner had changed his mind and wished to testify. As evidence that the motion would have been granted, Petitioner points to the court’s comments after it was made aware of Petitioner’s change of heart. Specifically, the court said that Petitioner wanted to adjust his strategy after the court ruled on the charging instructions, upon hearing what evidence the judge believed was missing from the record to support charges of voluntary manslaughter and self-defense.

Petitioner’s certainty that a motion to reopen the record would have been successful if it had been made first thing that morning is misplaced. First, the Court of Appeals expressly found that Petitioner’s right to testify was not violated by the Court’s refusal to reopen the record. *Wright*, 416 S.C. at 374, 785 S.E.2d 490. Also, the judge’s express reasons for denying Petitioner’s testimony were equally present that morning. Petitioner had heard that the court explain that there was insufficient evidence to support self-defense or voluntary manslaughter the previous day. Specifically, the court stated that it needed evidence that Petitioner was afraid, or under reasonable belief of imminent bodily harm or death to support the charges.

Sure enough, that is exactly what Petitioner would have provided. At the PCR hearing, Petitioner stated that the night after the charging conference had begun, he felt that he had not committed murder. He then decided he wanted to testify that the victim had a weapon and that he feared for his life, despite there being scant evidence supporting this point. In other words,

Petitioner heard the court opine that additional, specific evidence was needed to show that he did not commit murder. He went back, thought it over, and decided he wanted to testify to provide that very evidence.

Preventing the testimony that morning clearly served a legitimate interest in maintaining the integrity of the proceedings. Petitioner would have effectively been told how to testify by the court after hearing the charging discussions. This would have improperly prejudiced the State's case against him, contrary to Petitioner's assertions. This is not a case, like *Walker*, where a criminal defendant wanted to testify only after the state had presented rebuttal witnesses. There, those witnesses did not provide the defendant with any new, advantageous information. Here, Petitioner learned from the court itself that crucial evidence was lacking. At no point did the trial court indicate that such a motion would have been granted had it been brought to its attention that morning, but rather, that the morning was the *proper time for the motion to be considered*. A motion to reopen the record at Petitioner's suggested point in this trial would not have been granted, in fact, it would have been entirely improper and likely would have itself amounted to an abuse of discretion. Therefore, trial counsel's belief that it was too late for Petitioner to testify was correct, and was based upon a proper understanding of the law.

Furthermore, the PCR court found trial counsel credible in reviewing the testimony. Trial counsel stated that Petitioner's testimony of self-defense was not their theory of the case, and they had made a strategic decision to not call him to testify on that point. It is clear that doing so would have carried an admission that he was the shooter, which had repeatedly been called into question during the examination of the State's witnesses.

The decision not to inform the court about his desire to testify the morning after the defense rested was therefore both strategic and legally proper. Given the circumstances of the case and

what Petitioner had heard the previous day, trial counsel correctly determined it was too late for him to testify. His right to testify at that juncture did not override the legitimate, competing interests in preventing Petitioner from tailoring his testimony to fill the court-identified holes in his defense. Therefore, his trial counsels' decision not to inform the court of the change of heart, and instead proceed with the charging conference under their theory of the case was objectively reasonable under the circumstances as it was based upon a correct interpretation of the law. The PCR court's findings that this was a reasonable trial strategy, not one based upon a misunderstanding of the law, is clearly supported by the record. The PCR court's findings that trial counsel was not ineffective for failing to move to reopen the record must be upheld, Petitioner has not met his burden of proving his counsel was deficient, and this Court should deny certiorari.

**B. The PCR Court properly found that Petitioner was not prejudiced by his counsel's performance because the standard in *Rivera* does not apply to claims of ineffective assistance of counsel raised in post-conviction relief proceedings, rather, the proper standard is provided by *Strickland*.**

Petitioner does not disagree with the PCR court's finding that he was not prejudiced by trial counsel's performance. Instead, he seeks to sidestep the two-pronged *Strickland* requirement that he show deficiency and prejudice by relying on *Rivera*. *Rivera* found that a complete denial of a criminal defendant's right to testify by the trial court does not warrant an inquiry into prejudice because the right to testify in one's defense is so fundamental that it cannot be harmlessly denied. 402 S.C. at 249, 741 S.E.2d at 707. *Rivera* presented the issue on direct appeal, as a claim of trial court error, rather than couched within a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel raised in a post-conviction relief. The *Rivera* Court explicitly recognized this dichotomy, stating that it "fully appreciated" the State's argument that the matter should be raised in a PCR proceeding as a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel, but decided it on direct appeal given the circumstances of the case justifying direct review. *Id.* 401 S.C. at 240, 741 S.E.2d at 702. Specifically, the Court stated

that “Appellant’s claim is (and has consistently been) presented not as an ineffective assistance of counsel claim, but rather, as an error committed by the trial court. . . .” *Id.* The Court explained that “the issue of the failure of a defendant to testify may be viewed either as a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel or as a claim of a deprivation of a constitutional right; the appropriate inquiry depends on how the claim is pled and argued.” *Id.* 401 S.C. at 241, 741 S.E.2d at 702 (citing *Rossignol v. State*, 152 Idaho 700, 274 P.3d 1, 7 (Ct. App. 2012)). It went on to find that a trial court’s improper refusal to permit a defendant to testify in his own defense is a structural error, is not subject to a harmless-error analysis, and therefore requires reversal on direct appeal without a particularized prejudice inquiry. *Id.* 402 S.C. at 247, 741 S.E.2d at 706.

When a structural error is preserved and raised on direct review, the balance between the necessity for fair and just trials and the importance of finality of judgments is in the defendant’s favor. *Weaver v. Massachusetts*, 137 S.Ct. 1899, 1913 (2017). However, when a structural error is raised in the context of an ineffective assistance of counsel, finality concerns are more pronounced and a petitioner must show prejudice. *Id.*

Petitioner’s claim that he was denied his right to testify by the trial court was itself reviewed by the South Carolina Court of Appeals, and it found that the trial court did not abuse its discretion in refusing to reopen the record to allow him to testify. *Wright*, 416 S.C. at 373-74, 785 S.E.2d 479, 489 (2016). This claim was reviewed under *Rivera*, and the court did not inquire into whether Petitioner had been prejudiced, because such an inquiry was irrelevant in determining whether his right to testify had been violated. *Id.* The Court of Appeals found that the trial court’s refusal to reopen the record was legitimate because of concerns Petitioner would tailor his testimony to support a charge on self-defense, after hearing the court’s opinion of whether the evidence supported such a charge. *Id.*

Petitioner does not, has not, and cannot allege that his right to testify was denied by the trial court at this juncture. That issue has been litigated and a final decision on the merits has been reached. Given that Petitioner's right to testify was not violated under the *Rivera* standard, he cannot now prevail under that standard on post-conviction relief by alleging ineffective assistance of counsel. Petitioner must show that he was prejudiced by his counsel's failure to move to reopen the record, as required by *Strickland*. Petitioner has made no such showing. He only argues that the PCR court applied the wrong standard, not that it made improper findings under *Strickland*.

The PCR court properly reviewed the issue under the *Strickland* standard. It found that trial counsel testified credibly, but that Petitioner's testimony was self-serving and not credible. It further found that Petitioner failed to show prejudice from his counsel's performance because he had not shown a reasonable probability that the outcome would have differed had his counsel moved to reopen the record. The trial court had already explained what testimony was needed to support an instruction on voluntary manslaughter and self-defense the day before Petitioner decided to testify. The court refused to permit him to testify on this basis. Clearly, the opportunity for testifying had passed the previous afternoon, not that morning. This is sufficient to uphold the decision of the PCR court, as it shows that there is no reasonable probability the court's decision would have been different had his counsel acted with greater haste. Even under *Rivera*, as the Court of Appeals found, this shows that the trial court's refusal to allow Petitioner's testimony was not done arbitrarily. Instead, it was legitimately and proportionately tailored to the interest of preventing Petitioner from providing self-serving testimony, tailor made to provide evidence the court believed was not present, in order to get additional, beneficial jury instructions.

Furthermore, the PCR court found that Petitioner's testimony would have been detrimental to his case. Had he taken the stand, he would have testified that he was the shooter, confirmed the

sequence of events surrounding the shooting, and jeopardized his credibility. He would have relied on inadmissible evidence to support his claims that otherwise lacked evidentiary support. Simply put, the PCR court found that his testimony did not make any sense, and that no reasonable jury would have believed him. This finding is supported by trial counsel's testimony that Petitioner's proposed testimony would have defeated their attempts to cast doubt on whether Petitioner was actually the shooter.

The question to be answered is not whether Petitioner's right to testify was violated. The proper question is whether he was prejudiced by trial counsel's failure to move to reopen the record. Petitioner failed to show his right was violated on direct appeal, and has failed to show that he was prejudiced by trial counsel's failure to move to reopen the record, as required by *Strickland*. Petitioner's claims are not subject to review under *Rivera*, and even if they were, they would not prevail because the court's refusal to permit Petitioner's testimony was proportional to the court's legitimate concerns about effectively allowing his testimony after telling him what he needed to say. Therefore, Petitioner has failed to meet his burden of proof and this Court should deny his petition for writ of certiorari.

## CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated above, this Court should deny certiorari. However, should this Court grant certiorari, Respondent requests permission to fully brief the issues discussed herein.